

To the State Secretary of Infrastructure and the Environment



Subject: Submission of a horizon-scanning report Nanomaterials in wasteYour reference: -Our reference: U 6592/EvV/iv/789-KEnclosure(s): 1Date: July 26, 2011

Dear State Secretary,

I hereby submit the horizon-scanning report entitled *Nanomaterials in waste*. It was drafted by the Health and Environment Surveillance Committee, which is tasked with alerting the government and Parliament to important issues in the area of health and the environment, and with identifying any associated opportunities and threats. A draft version was assessed by the members of the Standing Committee on Health and Environment.

The horizon-scanning report highlights the increasing levels of nanomaterials in waste, in connection with possible risks to public health. This is not a new issue. It was cited in the 2006 Health Council advisory report entitled *Health significance of nanotechnologies*. It is already a focal point of government policy on nanotechnology. However, the Committee takes the view that the issue of nanomaterials in waste requires additional policy initiatives. In this horizon-scanning report the Committee explains its standpoint, and broadly identifies possible solutions.

I have sent copies to the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport, the Minister of Economic Affairs, Agriculture and Innovation and the State Secretary of Social Affairs and Employment.

Kind regards,

(signed) Professor H. Obertop, Vice President

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 73 27 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: pw.van. vliet@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl Nanomaterials in waste

to:

the State Secretary of Infrastructure and the Environment

No. 2011/14E, The Hague, July 26, 2011

The Health Council of the Netherlands, established in 1902, is an independent scientific advisory body. Its remit is "to advise the government and Parliament on the current level of knowledge with respect to public health issues and health (services) research..." (Section 22, Health Act).

The Health Council receives most requests for advice from the Ministers of Health, Welfare & Sport, Infrastructure & the Environment, Social Affairs & Employment, Economic Affairs, Agriculture & Innovation, and Education, Culture & Science. The Council can publish advisory reports on its own initiative. It usually does this in order to ask attention for developments or trends that are thought to be relevant to government policy.

Most Health Council reports are prepared by multidisciplinary committees of Dutch or, sometimes, foreign experts, appointed in a personal capacity. The reports are available to the public.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the European Science Advisory Network for Health (EuSANH), a network of science advisory bodies in Europe.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment (INAHTA), an international collaboration of organisations engaged with health technology assessment.

This report can be downloaded from www.healthcouncil.nl.

Preferred citation:

Health Council of the Netherlands. Nanomaterials in waste. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2011; publication no. 2011/14E.

all rights reserved

ISBN: 978-90-5549-874-1

Contents

	Executive summary 7
1	Introduction 11
1.1	Subject 11
1.2	Background 11
1.3	Question posed 14
1.4	Committee and procedure 14
1.5	Structure of this horizon-scanning report 15
2	Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials 16
2.1	Definition, composition and form 16
2.2	Products in which nanomaterials are used 17
2.3	Production and use of nanomaterials in the Netherlands 18
2.4	Life cycle of nanomaterial-based products 18
2.5	Anticipated developments 21
2.6	Conclusion 22
3	Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste 23
3.1	Waste management 23
3.2	Bound-nanomaterial-containing products 24
3.3	Unbound-nanomaterial-containing products 28
3.4	Conclusion 31

5

Contents

- 4 Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products *33*
- 4.1 Precautions *33*
- 4.2 Twin-track approach *34*
- 4.3 Awareness and communication *35*
- 4.4 Points to note for nanowaste policy *36*
- 4.5 Specific approach *37*
- 4.6 Conclusion *39*

Literature 40

Annex 46 A The Committee 47

Contents

Executive summary

Nanotechnologies and nanomaterials are having a large and growing impact on society. For example, all kinds of nanomaterial-containing consumer products are being launched onto the market, including electronics and personal care products. In 2006, the Health Council of the Netherlands published an advisory report entitled "Health significance of nanotechnologies", in which it called for a policy based on the precautionary principle. The Dutch government adopted this report's recommendations in its 2006 Government Vision on Nanotechnology. Building on that previous advisory report, the Health Council is using this horizon-scanning report to raise awareness of the issue of nanomaterials in waste. It was drafted by the Health and Environment Surveillance Committee, which is tasked with alerting the authorities to important links between environmental factors and human health.

Costs and benefits of nanomaterials

Nanomaterials (which are just several millionths of a millimetre in size) have special chemical and physical properties: for example, some are highly efficient electrical conductors, while others are used to create water-repellent or dirt repellent coatings. These properties have spurred the use of nanomaterials in a range of product innovations in the consumer-, industrial-, and medical sectors. Some examples are sunlight-resistant paints; strong, lightweight plastics for the automotive and aircraft industries; and antibacterial coatings. Nanomaterials are

Executive summary

also found in cosmetics, preservatives, cleaning agents, food packaging, and textiles.

However, relatively little is known about the risks to health associated with exposure to nanomaterials. Since the publication of the 2006 Health Council advisory report, there has been no substantial improvement in this situation. This is partly because the rapid rate of developments is outpacing our ability to identify any adverse effects that might be involved. One reason for this is the lack of routinely applicable methods for measuring the concentration of nanomaterials in various media. However, there is evidence to suggest that some nanomaterials are indeed harmful to health. Given the uncertainty surrounding the risks involved, it would be advisable to keep inadvertent human exposure to a minimum. This could include measures to ensure that, as far as possible, nanomaterials are prevented from entering the environment. Accordingly, waste management is an important consideration in this regard. Our waste already contains nanomaterials and, given the trends in development, production and use, the amounts involved will inevitably continue to grow.

Scope of the horizon-scanning report

This horizon-scanning report focuses on insoluble and non-degradable nanomaterials. It specifically addresses three components of waste management: recycling and incineration of solid waste, and wastewater purification.

The horizon-scanning report deals mainly with consumer products. However, its conclusions and recommendations apply to all nanomaterials that are potentially capable of releasing nanoparticles, and that are expected to be used in the near or longer term future. They also apply to all conceivable areas of application.

Recycling

The Dutch waste management sector places great emphasis on the separated collection and recycling of products and materials. It is not known what effect current materials recycling processes have on nanomaterials present in waste. Nor do we know the exact quantities involved.

Waste incineration

The remaining solid household waste, which is processed at waste incineration plants, contains an unknown amount of nanomaterials. The incineration of waste

8

Executive summary

is always accompanied by the release of particles in the nanometre size range (referred to as ultrafine particles). Procedures to confirm the presence of various types of nanomaterials, and to measure their concentration, must target specific materials. This should be based on a combination of properties, including the numbers, surface area, and composition of the particles in question. However, that is not yet a viable option. There are no simple, reliable methods for measuring different types of nanoparticles in the air, nor for distinguishing them from one another and from ultrafine particles. Furthermore, it is not known how effective incineration plants are at removing nanomaterials from waste. However, there is evidence from scientific research that, aside from the ultrafine particles that are traditionally present, emissions from such plants also contain nanoparticles.

Water purification

Nanomaterials (from cosmetics and coatings, for example) can end up in waste water. Here too, no usable, specific techniques have been developed for routine analysis. The measurement problems associated with waste water are broadly the same as for air. Given the lack of appropriate measurement methods, it is not known how effective the waste water treatment process is at removing nanomaterials from water. As a result, there is a risk that they will enter the environment. Indeed, there is some evidence from scientific research to suggest that these materials are not completely removed.

There are also indications that nanoparticles can adversely affect the operation of wastewater treatment plants. Some consumer products, for example, contain nanoparticles with a bactericidal effect. These can impact the bacterial purification processes used at such plants.

Conclusions and recommendations

The Committee concludes that, when products are disposed of, little is known about the fate of any nanomaterials that they may contain. Similarly, it is not known how much of this material is present in waste, nor how much may be released into the environment. A growing body of scientific evidence indicates that nanomaterials may cause problems. Yet there are questions about the extent to which waste management is geared to the effective handling of such materials.

According to the Committee, there is every reason to scrutinise waste management and, in accordance with the precautionary principle, to focus on the presence of nanomaterials. It is advisable to start right away, before there is a

9

Executive summary

steep climb in the amounts of nanomaterials in household waste and waste water. This is fully in keeping with waste management policy.

One of the implications of a proactive policy of this kind is that early on, at the product development stage, there should be a focus on the phase in which the product is discarded. The goal is to keep the amount of waste generated to a minimum. Our growing understanding of the harmful properties of certain nanoparticles must be integrated into the process of innovation. In this way, new generations of nanomaterials would have fewer adverse properties, or none at all. The government should encourage industry to adopt smart design and production techniques.

The producers, importers and users of nanomaterials have a responsibility to provide safe products, and should make every effort to do so safely. This could be achieved by exchanging know-how (and discussing their experiences) with experts from the waste sector when designing nanomaterials and products containing them. The waste sector can also get actively involved by modifying waste treatment processes where necessary and by considering how new waste treatment technologies might effectively contribute to the safe handling of nanomaterial-containing waste.

The Committee recommends that trends associated with future generations of nanomaterials and with the modernisation of waste management should be carefully monitored. Also, policy should be continually updated to reflect developments in these areas. Scenario analysis is a useful tool for identifying and quantifying nanomaterials in waste, and for pinpointing the waste streams involved.

The Committee recommends that funding be provided, as a matter of priority, to develop methods of measuring specific types of nanomaterials in media such as air and water. This was prompted by the fact that a lack of adequate measurement methods is one of the main reasons why risk management and risk research are lagging behind in the design, manufacture, and use of nanomaterials.

The Committee also feels that research is needed into the ways in which new waste treatment technologies can help tackle this issue.

Executive summary

Introduction

1.1 Subject

In this horizon-scanning report, a Health Council committee examines the fate of a relatively new group of products (i.e. nanomaterial-based products) in the disposal phase. These products include electronics (and consumer electronics), packaging, personal care products and medical diagnostics.¹⁻⁴ This horizon-scanning report will show whether the fate of nanomaterials in products during the disposal phase is sufficiently well understood, and reveal the implications of this for public health.

1.2 Background

1.2.1 Nanomaterials and their applications

Nanoscience and nanotechnologies represent a broad field of study that has moved into the fast lane in recent years. The prefix "nano" is derived from the nanometre (nm), a unit of measurement equivalent to one billionth of a meter. The more finely divided a material becomes, the greater its surface area, while its volume remains the same. Materials with dimensions on the nanometre scale have quite different properties.

Nanomaterial-based products and nanotechnology applications include paints that are resistant to sunlight or that are self-repairing after damage,

Introduction

window glass with dirt-resistant coatings, and light and strong plastics (composites) for the automotive and aerospace industries, bactericidal coatings, and components of advanced technical equipment, plus all kinds of industrial processes (see Chapter 2).

1.2.2 Unknown health risks

Their special technical properties make nanomaterials so attractive that an ever wider range of products incorporating these materials are appearing on the market. These products are also being manufactured in ever increasing quantities. Besides opportunities, this also involves various risks, to public health, for example. A few years ago, the Health Council argued that, in the interests of public health, the precautionary principle be applied, and that the opportunities and risks be carefully weighed.⁵ Regarding the health risks of using nanomaterials, the Council found that, while there are still many gaps in our knowledge, there is evidence that such risks do exist. For example, there is direct evidence that the inhalation of nanomaterials can result in health impairment. Thus, experimental animal studies with substances such as titanium dioxide and carbon black (soot, a form of carbon) in particulate form showed that exposure to these particles via the respiratory system can result in inflammation and tumours in the lungs. For each test substance, a given mass in the form of nanoparticles was shown to have a greater effect than the same mass in the form of larger particles.6,7

There is also significant indirect evidence that the inhalation of nanomaterials could be hazardous to health. This evidence was obtained in studies involving other small particles, known as fine particulates^{*} and fibres.

Inhalation of fine particulates can cause disorders of the respiratory system, heart and blood vessels.^{8,9} These effects are mainly attributed to the ultrafine fraction (particles with an aerodynamic diameter of less than 0.1 micrometers), i.e. that fraction with the dimensions of nanomaterials.^{10,11}

The main fibres involved are various types that have been, or still are, used as insulation. These include glass fibres, glass wool, rock wool, slag wool, superfine glass fibres, ceramic fibres, *p*-aramid fibres, and asbestos. Some types have carcinogenic properties, others don't.¹²⁻¹⁵ Even though these fibres have slightly larger dimensions than nanomaterials (micrometers), the carcinogenicity

"Fine particulates" is a generic term for particles with an aerodynamic diameter of less than 10 microns which arise naturally (through soil erosion and volcanic eruptions, for example) or inadvertently as a result of human activity (for example, in processes such as the combustion of fossil fuels and the milling of substances in industry).

Introduction

findings are relevant. Together with the results for nanomaterials and ultrafine particulates mentioned above, these findings suggest that nanomaterials may indeed exhibit hazardous properties, at least when inhaled. Nevertheless, the Council makes it quite clear that what goes for some nanomaterials does not necessarily apply to all materials in this category.

In addition to the Health Council, other institutions at home and abroad have highlighted the existence of health risks (e.g.¹⁶⁻²³). Meanwhile, the amount of evidence has increased (e.g.^{24,25} for review articles). Additional results from studies in cells, bacteria, and experimental animals show that some nanomaterials are capable of damaging genetic material, facilitating the creation of harmful substances (such as reactive oxygen species) or causing inflammation in the lungs. It appears that nanomaterials can also damage ecosystems.²⁶ This route could conceivably produce indirect effects on human health.

Over the past few years, there have been many new developments in Dutch policy on nanotechnologies. The main thrust of this work is to ensure that any decisions on the introduction of such technologies are taken with the greatest possible care. In 2006, the government submitted its Vision on Nanotechnology to the Lower House of the Dutch Parliament.²⁷ That document incorporated the Health Council's advisory report, and policy was formulated based on the precautionary principle. This policy was then further refined in the Nanotechnology Action Plan (for which the first progress report has now been published)^{28-31.} The Action Plan also includes a measure to promote dialogue on the ethical and societal aspects of nanotechnology. The results were recently reported to the Lower House of the Dutch Parliament.^{32,33} The Action Plan also includes steps aimed at the further analysis and curtailment of risks, such as further research into those properties of nanomaterials that are hazardous to health. The pace of development and the speed at which new products are being launched onto the market is so great that this study simply cannot keep pace.³⁴ Given the current level of technological development in our society, it appears to be fundamentally impossible for risk research to keep pace with applications research.35 One practical problem is that the chemical-analytical methods used to check for the presence of conventional substances in humans, animals, and the environment cannot be used for nanomaterials. Another is that the development of suitable methods is a time consuming process.³⁶

1.2.3 Waste

As part of the Action Plan, there will be a strong government and industry focus on the production and professional use of nanomaterials. Studies have now been

Introduction

carried out to determine how Dutch industry deals with nanomaterials.^{37,38} Considerably less attention has been devoted to the phase in which these products are discarded. When drawing attention to the disposal phase, virtually all other sources also couch this in very general terms (e.g.^{21,34}).

However, the increasing number of nanomaterial-based products will be reflected by increased amounts of nanomaterials in waste (even though this effect may not appear for some time).³⁹ Waste treatment could release insoluble and non-biodegradable nanomaterials into the environment, resulting in the inadvertent exposure of humans and the natural environment. If these materials possess hazardous properties then this could pose a real problem. Accordingly, until we know the extent to which the individual nanomaterials used possess hazardous properties, it is advisable to focus carefully on the disposal phase of those products that contain these materials, and on the release of such nanomaterials into the environment. A complicating factor in this regard is that we do not have comprehensive details about which products contain nanomaterials.

In this horizon-scanning report, the Health Council draws attention to issue of waste consisting of nanomaterial-based products. The goal is to prevent potential future health problems. The focus is on consumer products that contain insoluble and non-biodegradable nanomaterials. The Council is using this report to elaborate upon its recommendation (made in its previous advisory report on nanotechnology) that any risks should be identified at an early stage.

1.3 Question posed

This horizon-scanning report addresses the following two questions:

- To what extent are the waste disposal industry and its waste treatment technology equipped to deal with nanomaterial-based products?
- How does this affect the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products?

1.4 Committee and procedure

This horizon-scanning report was drawn up by the Health and Environment Surveillance Committee. Details of the make-up of the Committee are set out in Annex A.

In the context of preparing this report, the Committee paid working visits to the Rijnmond waste incineration plant (Van Gansewinkel Groep, Rotterdam), the DCMR Environmental Protection Agency (Schiedam), and the De Groote Lucht sewage treatment plant at Vlaardingen. The Committee also consulted various

Introduction

individuals with specific expertise in this area. Their names are listed in Annex A. During their interviews and working visits, the Committee obtained background information, familiarised themselves with the practical aspects of waste treatment, and tested their findings against the literature.

A draft version of this horizon-scanning report was assessed by the members of the Standing Committee on Health and Environment, one of the Health Council's permanent bodies of experts.

1.5 Structure of this horizon-scanning report

Chapter 2 gives a detailed description of nanomaterials and of how they are used. Next, in Chapter 3, the Committee examines the extent to which the waste treatment industry is equipped to deal with the processing of nanomaterials. In Chapter 4, it gives outline details of a waste policy based on the precautionary principle.

Introduction

Chapter

2

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

2.1 Definition, composition and form

In a previous Health Council advisory report, materials were classified as nanomaterials if they were smaller than 100 nm in at least one dimension.⁵ As yet, there is no internationally accepted definition, although one is currently in the preparation stages (e.g.⁴⁰). For the purposes of this horizon-scanning report, it is sufficient to state that these are materials consisting of particles of nanometre scale dimensions.

There are also materials that contain structures with nanometre-scale dimensions which are not particulate in nature. Such materials include computer chips (with nanogrooves), and filters (with nanopores) which can be used in water purification (removal of biological and chemical contaminants), for example. While this is unquestionably nanotechnology, these are not materials from which nanoparticles could be inadvertently released into the environment. Some take the view that the term "nanomaterials" should not be restricted to specially engineered materials alone. They feel that it should also include natural nanometre-scale materials (e.g. clay particles) that are deliberately added to products to change their properties. This issue is not dealt with in this horizonscanning report.

Nanomaterials include organic or inorganic compounds, such as carbon, metals and metal oxides. They can also contain combinations of ingredients. Moreover, there are nanomaterials whose surfaces have been chemically altered. The latter group includes fullerenes (a molecular form of carbon) to which hydroxyl groups (or other functional groups) have been linked. Nanomaterials

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

also occur in a wide variety of forms.³⁹ The particles may be spherical or spiral in shape, for example, and hollow or solid.

Nanomaterials can be processed in many different ways. They can be powders that are mixed with liquids (e.g. creams) to confer certain properties on the liquids in question (unbound nanomaterials). When mixed with a liquid that functions as a carrier (paint, wax, or spray, for example) they can be applied to surfaces as thin layers (bound nanomaterials). Nanomaterials can also be mixed with materials that undergo a hardening process. In this way, the nanomaterials contribute to the three dimensional structure of solids such as plastics (which are also bound nanomaterials). In the latter case, they are embedded in a matrix consisting of a different material. Where relevant, the terms "bound nanoparticles" and "unbound nanoparticles" are used.

2.2 Products in which nanomaterials are used

Nanomaterials figure among the ingredients of all sorts of products that are either already on the market or which will be marketed in the foreseeable future. Their area of application covers the food sector, the consumer products sector, and the technology sector (including medical applications in medical treatment, medical diagnostics and health monitoring). Some applications were established long before it became trendy to use the term "nanotechnology". One example is carbon black, which makes tyres more resistant to abrasion. More recent applications of nanomaterials include food containers that keep food fresh for longer, and coatings that keep surfaces clean and free of bacteria. It was recently shown that a new type of coating with antibacterial properties is also effective against antibiotic-resistant microorganisms.⁴¹ If this material is coated onto surfaces in hospitals with which staff come into contact, such as computer keyboards, this may well help to reduce the incidence of hospital-acquired infections. Other consumer products in which nanomaterials are used include paint, ink and toner, personal care products such as deodorants and cosmetics. clothing and furniture fabrics, and mobile phones. In the area of medical technology, they are used in wound care products and contrast agents for medical diagnostics.

In the area of consumer products alone, there are more than 1,300 nanomaterial-based products. These are manufactured by nearly 600 individual companies, located in 30 different countries.^{1,2} For several years, government-backed studies have been identifying specific products, on sale in the Netherlands, that are suspected to contain nanomaterials.^{3,42,43} The most recent data indicate that more than 850 nanomaterial-containing consumer products are

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

available on the market.⁴ These are mainly personal care products, cleaning agents, scouring agents, and clothing textiles. Nanomaterials are also used in the food chain, for such purposes as the production and processing of food, and in food packaging.⁴⁴ In some cases, powdered food products like coffee milk powder and instant soup contain silicon dioxide nanoparticles.⁴⁵ Other consumer products may also contain nanomaterials, without mentioning this in the product information.

2.3 Production and use of nanomaterials in the Netherlands

Nanomaterials are used in the Netherlands, but few are produced here.^{37,38} Their industrial applications mainly involve the surface treatment and coatings sector. The substrates used here include textiles, metal, plastic, and glass. The lion's share of these materials are used in commercial applications. The top three (by weight) are carbon black, silica, and aluminium oxides.³⁸

Other nanomaterials are used or produced in smaller (in some cases very much smaller) quantities. This mainly involves their development or use in commercial applications relating to products (including consumer products) which, generally, will not be available until some time in the future.

2.4 Life cycle of nanomaterial-based products

All products, whether or not they contain nanomaterials, pass through the stages of research and development, production, professional/non-professional use, and disposal. In some cases, a recycling stage is added at the end of the life cycle. This horizon-scanning report is based on waste treatment in the Netherlands.

Recycling is a cyclical process in which materials are wholly or partially reused for the same application (e.g. processing paper waste into new paper), or for a different, lower grade application (e.g. processing kitchen and garden waste into compost). Residual waste (the solid waste that remains after individual waste streams have been sorted/collected) generally undergoes no further separation and is incinerated. Only the non-combustible waste that emerges from this process is disposed of in landfill sites. Waste water is treated, and most of the sludge that emerges from this process is fermented (converted into gaseous products (mainly methane) under anaerobic conditions). Any residual material is then incinerated. In some cases, the sludge is composted.

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials



Figure 1 Diagram showing the life cycle of nanomaterials (from ³⁹, amended)

Figure 1 is a diagrammatic representation of the life cycle of nanomaterials. Eventually, nanomaterial-based products arrive at the waste stage. The duration of the life cycle can vary widely from one product to another. For the packaging of perishable foods, this is a matter of weeks, whereas TVs or items of medical diagnostic equipment have life cycles measured in years.

There are also differences in how the waste is generated and where it ends up. For instance, after consumption, the plastic packaging of personal care products enters the solid waste stream and is then incinerated. This packaging often contains product residues. In such cases, waste can be created and can even enter the environment while the product is still in use. For instance, unbound nanoparticles can be released from personal care products that are applied to the skin, and disperse into the environment. Such particles can also be washed off under the tap, and when showering and swimming. They can then enter the waste-water stream.⁴⁶ Accordingly, the use and disposal phases cannot be strictly

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

separated. Waste that may contain nanomaterials can also arise even earlier in the life cycle, during product manufacture, for example. This is the case with products such as disposable gloves and work clothing.

A collection system has been set up for electric and electronic appliances, as well as for batteries. The collected items are first dismantled, then any usable materials (metals and plastics) are recovered and reused. Any residual waste is incinerated. Inappropriately, items such as electrical products are sometimes discarded into domestic waste streams (generally small items like paint cans, mobile phones, and batteries). These objects are incinerated in their entirety, including any nanomaterials that might be present.

Accordingly, at various stages in the life cycle of nanomaterial-based products, individuals can unintentionally come into contact with the nanomaterials that they contain. This might involve members of the general public, for example, or just certain categories of employees (involved in the use of nanomaterials, or in the waste treatment sector). This varies from product to product. Nanomaterials can also create an environmental burden, not only in the disposal phase but also in the use phase, for example, by the inadvertent generation of waste. So there is a relationship between environmental exposure, and exposure of the general public and of employees. The details of this relationship vary, depending on which material, product, and application is involved.

As yet, little is known regarding the fate of nanomaterial constituents during the life cycles of nanomaterial-based products. Do they decompose, for example, do they react with other materials, or do they clump together (in the case of unbound particles)? In short, how do particles that have been incorporated into products emerge again at the end of the life cycle? How do the recovery and reuse of components affect any nanomaterials that are present? And how easy or difficult is it for a coating to shed its bound particles? To what extent can particles that are bound to components of the carrier or matrix be released from coatings and composites? What are the implications of this for the behaviour of nanomaterials in the product and in the media into which they may be released (e.g. outdoor air and waste water)? These are all relevant questions, but — as yet — there are no answers.

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

2.5 Anticipated developments

2.5.1 Near future

The Social and Economic Council of the Netherlands (SER) expects that there will be a sharp increase in the use of titanium and aluminium oxides in coatings, especially in new consumer products. In addition, numerous nanomaterials are being tested for many different applications (e.g. carbon nanotubes), or for use in composite materials (mixed with polymers) to make stronger plastics. Over time, these trends will probably result in the manufacture of a wide range of products based on these nanomaterials, and of many units of each type of product.

Other nanomaterials are being tested in knowledge institutions and, to a lesser extent, in companies for use in high-quality applications whose commercial viability is, as yet, uncertain. These include nanomaterials of gold, cerium oxide, or antimony oxide.

This preview does not cover all anticipated flows of materials and products. The import and export of nanomaterial-based products developed elsewhere in the world will almost certainly increase.

Expectations regarding the use of nanomaterials largely relate to those now being used as components or ingredients of existing types of products. Their main, shared characteristics are their passive, fixed structures and functions. These materials are referred to as the first generation of nanomaterials.⁴⁷

The above description of the Dutch situation is also applicable, to some extent, to the second generation. The latter consists of active nanostructures that can change their properties (size, shape, or conductivity, for example) in response to a given stimulus. One example is nanoparticles used in the targeted delivery of medicinal products to tumours in the body and which, under the influence of a radiation source, release these drugs inside the tumour. Another, is the use of nanomaterials in molecular "motors" which provide motive power in response to light. Most of the products based on these types of nanomaterials are still under development, but it is not unrealistic to suggest that they could reach the market in the not too distant future.

2.5.2 In the longer term

More radical developments are in the offing over the longer term. There is much less certainty concerning their social impact, but this is likely to be profound.

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

There are currently indications that third and fourth generation nanomaterials are on the way.⁴⁷ The third generation involves systems of nanosystems, such as three-dimensional networks, biochemical and chemical assembly techniques, and nanoscale robotics. The fourth generation consists of molecular nanosystems which can be designed one particle at a time, e.g. for advanced genetic therapies. Self-organising nanoscale structures would also be considered part of this fourth generation. Indeed, it is even possible to describe the fifth generation in some detail.⁴⁸ This would include large, complex systems that are constructed from the nanoscale upwards.

Unlike the first two generations of nanomaterials, it will be much longer before the potential benefits of the third, fourth and fifth generations can be realised.

The changes are coming thick and fast. For instance, the number of consumer products in the Woodrow Wilson file (first generation) increased nearly six fold from 2006 to 2010.² The further developments are projected into the future, the less clarity there is concerning the social impact of these new technologies and materials (both beneficial and adverse). This also applies to the waste that they generate.

2.6 Conclusion

The nanotechnology/nanomaterials field is extremely dynamic. There will, in all probability, be a boom in the development and application of new generations of nanomaterials. To some extent, these issues challenge our imaginations, as does the associated disposal phase. In the wake of these developments, there will be an inevitable increase in the quantity and variety of nanomaterials in waste. Initially, this will involve first and second generation nanomaterials.

Use and life-cycle of nanomaterials

Chapter

3

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

This chapter assesses how well the waste disposal industry and its waste treatment technology are equipped to deal with nanomaterial-based products. The basic principle here is that the quantity of nanomaterials entering the environment should be restricted as much as possible.

Following a brief outline of the principles underpinning the general waste policy, the Committee discusses the origins and treatment of nanomaterialcontaining waste. In this context, a distinction is drawn between products containing nanomaterials that are bound up in a matrix or to a carrier, and products that contain unbound nanoparticles. Three aspects of waste treatment are addressed: recycling, waste incineration, and wastewater treatment. The focus here is on first and second generation nanomaterial-containing consumer products. It covers the generation of waste during use, and when these products are discarded. The scope of the conclusions drawn has been extended to include future generations of nanomaterials.

3.1 Waste management

The Dutch policy on waste management aims to limit the amount of waste generated. The aim is to reduce the burden on the environment as much as possible, with corresponding knock-on benefits for people and animals. It covers the entire material chain, from production to waste treatment. The prioritisation

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

of waste reduction involves reuse as secondary raw materials, or in other useful applications such as energy generation.

Waste management policy is enshrined in the 2009-2021 National Waste Management Plan, which is based on the Environmental Management Act.⁴⁹ This plan describes the Dutch waste management chain, which propounds the following order of preference: 1) prevention through waste prevention, 2) prevention by smart product design, 3) recovery through product reuse, 4) materials recovery (recycling), 5) recovery as fuel, 6) removal by incineration, 7) removal by dumping.

The earlier in the chain action is taken, the smaller the ultimate problem. After all, there is less residual waste to incinerate and to dump in landfill sites. Reusable glass bottles for beer and soft drinks are a familiar example of product reuse. In this case, materials recovery involves the manufacture of new glass objects from collected glass.

Aqueous waste is also covered by the Environmental Management Act, but not by the National Waste Management Plan, which is structurally unsuited to dealing with waste water issues. It has a distinct order of preference, one aspect of which is that first the creation of waste water and then the pollution of such water should be limited or prevented.

3.2 Bound-nanomaterial-containing products

3.2.1 Sorting, collection and reuse

The Dutch system involves the large-scale separation and separate collection of waste at source. The aim is to reduce risks to health from hazardous waste (e.g. asbestos) and domestic chemical waste (e.g. paint residues, energy-saving light bulbs, and medicinal products). In addition, sorting and separate collection facilitate the reuse of valuable products or components. In this way, the amount of residual waste is kept to a minimum. In waste-management parlance, materials recovery is referred to as recycling. A range of products and waste types are collected and processed separately. These include domestic kitchen and garden waste, plastic, paper, cardboard, batteries, discarded electrical and electronic equipment, as well as building and demolition waste.

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

Nanomaterial-containing waste

Various consumer products that are collected separately and recycled, such as batteries and electronics, already contain nanomaterials. Within the foreseeable future, the same will probably be true of many other products.

Accordingly, allowance must be made for the presence of nanomaterials when handling existing waste streams (and any new ones that may arise) from separately collected waste. To what extent does this require changes in waste management? Do innovations in the sorting, collection, and reuse of waste have the potential to curb the release of nanomaterials into the environment? As yet, we don't know.

3.2.2 Waste incineration

The regular combustible residual waste that is left after sorting and collection is either burned at waste incineration plants (WIPs; these are technical units solely or primarily intended for residual waste disposal by incineration, with energy recovery), or incinerated (with conventional fuels, such as gas and coal) in power stations. The incineration of residual waste is regulated by the Waste Incineration Decree.⁵⁰

Residual waste includes residual domestic waste (residual waste from private households), comparable residual waste from businesses (residual waste from companies in the commercial, service, and government sectors) and sewage sludge, which is the residual waste from sewage treatment plants.

Presence of nanomaterials

It is likely that residual domestic waste already contains nanomaterials. We are aware that such waste includes the remains of consumer products, such as food and the packaging used for food and cleaning products. Such waste is indeed likely to contain nanomaterials, given the applications of these materials and the lifespans of the products into which they are incorporated. Regular domestic waste sent for incineration also includes unbound nanoparticles (tubes containing residues of nanomaterial-based creams, for example).

Other types of waste, generated by companies for example, may also contain nanomaterials. Various companies and knowledge institutions (universities and research institutes) who work with nanomaterials collect their own nanowaste.³⁷ Ultimately, however, this is disposed of with ordinary residual waste, as there are no facilities for separate collection.

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

Nothing is known about the quantities and types of nanomaterials that are currently present in our solid waste and residual waste. This applies to all of the waste streams cited here. This is mainly because the list of consumer products that contain nanomaterials is far from complete.

General effectiveness of WIPs

When residual waste is burned in a waste incineration plant (WIP), this produces flue gas, bottom ash (the ash that remains in the incinerator), and heat. The flue gas contains fly ash (solid combustion residues fine enough to be carried along in the flue gas stream) and water-soluble harmful substances, including acids. The flue gas is then scrubbed (in a series of washing and filtration steps) before emerging from the WIP's chimney. This process removes as many of the water-soluble and particulate (fly ash) contaminants as possible. The regulations state that the entire incineration process (including flue gas scrubbing) must use the best available techniques.⁵¹ The bottom ash is processed into road-building materials (foundations and embankments), the fly ash is dumped.

The total process of incineration and flue gas scrubbing is designed to ensure that the concentrations of certain harmful substances created during the incineration process (including fine particulates) in the plant's emissions remain below set standards. The concentration of fine particulates in emissions is expressed as mass per unit volume of air. Studies have evaluated the effectiveness of flue gas scrubbing at WIPs, in terms of the removal of fine and ultrafine particulates. Emission measurements at WIPs before and after flue gas scrubbing show that, in quantitative terms, this process reduces the concentration of fine particulates by a factor of roughly one thousand. However, these measurements also showed that relatively high numbers of ultrafine particulates are not captured by scrubbing.⁵²⁻⁵⁴

Techniques for measuring nanoparticles in emissions

In terms of their size, nanomaterials that are not removed by flue gas scrubbing and which emerge from the chimney unchanged, are indistinguishable from ultrafine particulates. Accordingly, measurement methods based on different principles are needed to detect and quantify these materials. The problem is that there are no specific and reliable methods for detecting and quantifying specific nanomaterials (or groups of nanomaterials).

Quantitative measurements alone are not sufficiently characteristic. Measures suitable for quantifying nanomaterials in air involve a combination of

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

variables, such as the number of particles, as well as the material's surface area and composition. However, the measurement of these characteristics is still subject to considerable scientific debate. Currently available equipment is capable of measuring the particles contained in an air sample, in terms of particle size distribution and numbers per size class. However, it is much harder to measure the composition of individual particles and of particles within those classes. Accordingly, it is no easy matter to monitor emissions from WIPs for the presence of specific nanomaterials (or groups of nanomaterials) and to determine how effectively these are removed in the process of waste incineration. As yet, there are no practical techniques for the routine analysis of air samples. More detailed evaluations of measurement methods can be found in review articles and supplementary publications (e.g.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷). To date, it has only been possible to collect data through the use of time-consuming experimental techniques.

Incomplete removal of nanometre-scale materials

Partly due to the lack of reliable, routinely applicable methods for measuring specific types of nanoparticles in air, it is not known how effectively waste incineration plants remove the nanomaterials that are present in residual waste. While some publications do address the issue of waste incineration and nanomaterials, they do not explore the fate of materials in residual waste that is sent for incineration. For instance, while one such publication involved an analysis of fly ash, it is possible that the nanometre-scale carbonaceous particles detected (which included fullerenes) were formed during the process of incineration itself.⁵⁸ Such particles are known to form during the combustion of carbon.⁵⁹ Accordingly, the analysis of fly ash cannot show whether or not nanomaterials in waste sent for incineration are removed during this process.

What can be deduced from studies into the effectiveness of flue gas scrubbing is that it does not remove all ultrafine particulates. However, so little of this material escapes that the contribution of WIP emissions to the concentration of ultrafine particulates in outdoor air is dwarfed by that of traffic emissions.⁵² If nanomaterials, too, are allowed to escape, even if only in small quantities, this could be a problem (depending on their harmfulness).

The few findings mentioned above, which were obtained using timeconsuming (i.e. not routinely applicable) analysis methods, support the view that emissions from waste incineration plants include small particles other than those created de novo during the incineration process itself. In addition, many other issues are still unresolved. For example, we do not know if it matters whether the nanomaterials are unbound, or whether they are fixed onto or inside another

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

material (or, indeed, whether the nature of that other material has a part to play). Also, could the size of the waste fragments sent for incineration be in any way significant? Similarly, we do not know whether the special properties of the nanomaterials themselves affect the process of incineration, or whether their combustion differs in any way from that of corresponding non-nanomaterials. Nor do we know whether nanomaterials undergo chemical and physical changes during incineration. In theory, all of the carbon in carbon-based nanomaterials will undergo combustion. However, this is dependent on the conditions (such as the temperature) and the size of the waste fragments in question. Other materials, such as precious metals and metal oxides, do not burn but can undergo chemical and physical interactions with other inorganic constituents of waste.

New waste disposal processes

New, environmentally friendly waste disposal technologies are being developed and introduced. These include gasification, which is an alternative to incineration. Gasification is a chemical process in which materials are converted at high temperature into a mixture consisting mainly of hydrogen and carbon monoxide. The former is a gaseous fuel that can serve as an alternative to natural gas. Even assuming that they would be economically feasible in practice, it is important to ask whether these technologies represent a genuine advance in terms of the removal of any nanomaterials present in waste.

3.3 Unbound-nanomaterial-containing products

Waste water may contain particles (including unbound nanoparticles). Waste water is treated in a sewage treatment plant or wastewater treatment plant. These are technical units to which water is transported through the sewers. Here, it is treated to the point at which it is permissible for it to be discharged into surface water. The water entering such units consists of domestic waste water combined with industrial waste water of comparable quality (in terms of the biodegradability of any contaminants that are present). While the principles of wastewater treatment are common to all treatment plants, some may use different techniques at various stages of the process. Broadly speaking, this involves aeration, bacterial decomposition, and the removal of particles by sedimentation. There are requirements, in the form of maximum permissible concentrations for certain substances (such as phosphates, nitrogen, and undissolved particles) in purified waste water.

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

Waste water entering the plant contains small particles (which are insoluble and non-biodegradable) of the same dimensions as nanoparticles. These include dust from the streets that is carried into the drains in rainwater runoff.

Introduction of nanoparticles

Many types of products containing unbound nanoparticles suspended in liquids can give rise to nanoparticle-containing waste water. The nanoparticles used in cosmetics are ultimately washed off the skin into water streams that are carried away in the drains. Water from showers, sinks, toilets and rain enters the drains, which divert it into sewage treatment plants.

Incidentally, it is worth noting that products containing bound particles can also release nanoparticles into waste water. Wear and tear can cause nanomaterials bound into a three-dimensional matrix to be released. However, this is seldom likely to occur under normal circumstances. With regard to coatings, the quality of the bond will determine both the extent to which nanomaterials are unintentionally emitted into the environment, and the route that they take. However, there are situations in which a layer of nanomaterial may shed unbound nanoparticles, e.g. when paint is sanded. Rain (outdoors) or cleaning activity (indoors) can then flush the resultant dust into the drains. It has been shown that nanoparticles are indeed emitted by coatings. For example, nanoparticles of titanium dioxide have been detected in water running down outside walls coated with paint containing this substance.⁶⁰

Moreover, there is evidence that nanoparticles are indeed present in waste water. In an area of the U.S. where silver is unlikely to occur naturally, nanometre-scale silver sulphide particles have been detected in sewage sludge.⁶¹

Incomplete removal of nanoparticles

Given the findings of the U.S. study cited above, it is plausible that silvercontaining nanoparticles may be present in waste water. The same study shows that it may also be possible to remove them from this medium.⁶¹ After all, they have been found in sludge. It seems that silver nanoparticles precipitate as insoluble silver sulphide. However, the study gives no indication of how much silver is removed from waste water in this way, as the concentration of this element in water entering the treatment plant was not measured.

Another study shows that various types of nanoparticles are partially removed with the sludge under laboratory conditions that mimic the operation of a sewage treatment plant.^{62,63} These tests involved nanoparticles of cerium oxide

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

and titanium dioxide, plus various types of nanoparticles based on silver and carbon.

Although the picture is far from complete, there is at least some evidence to suggest that nanoparticles are not completely removed by wastewater treatment.

The sedimentation study of particles in general also sheds light onto the anticipated sedimentation behaviour of nanoparticles. Sewage treatment plants can remove particles with diameters of 1 micron or more from waste water by sedimentation.⁴⁶ At this scale we also find aggregates of smaller particles, some of which may be bound to other sludge constituents. Nanoparticles that behave in this way will also be removed from waste water by sedimentation. Those that are not will still be present in treated water. It is not known to what extent sedimentation contributes to the removal of nanomaterials. However, laboratory research into the behaviour of nanomaterials in aqueous fluids carried out for the purpose of designing tests to determine the potential harmfulness of nanoparticles has generated results that could provide a useful stepping stone.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶

Effect of nanoparticles on the operation of sewage treatment plants

There are also indications that nanoparticles present in waste water can adversely affect the operation of sewage treatment plants. For instance, under laboratory conditions, silver-containing nanoparticles can affect the bacterial treatment process.⁶⁷ Theoretically, nanoparticles pose a plausible threat to this step in the wastewater treatment process. This is because the nanoparticles used in the study belong to a type that was deliberately designed to kill bacteria. These very bactericidal properties are the reason that these particles are being incorporated into a wide range of products (including consumer products). The best known example is silver-containing nanoparticles in a range of products, including socks and coatings for lavatory bowls and washing machines. The silver ions released by these nanoparticles are responsible for their antibacterial activity.

Accordingly, there are experimental findings and theoretical considerations to support the view that nanoparticles with antimicrobial properties may be a threat to mainstream wastewater treatment processes.

Any threat to wastewater treatment poses a clear and indirect hazard to human health. This is, therefore, a more specific risk than that posed by the incomplete removal of nanoparticles, whose potential impact on human health is much less clear.

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

Measuring nanoparticles in water

Methods for measuring specific types of nanoparticles in waste water (before and after treatment) are still in their infancy. Broadly speaking, the issues here are the same as those involved in the analysis of air. The methods that are conventionally used to measure substances in water are based on mass and composition. As a result, no practical techniques are yet available for the routine testing of water samples for the presence of nanoparticles. Given this lack of routine tests, the scientific studies cited above involved the use of time-consuming analytical methods such as electron microscopy. More detailed evaluations can be found in various review articles (e.g.^{55,56,58-70}).

New waste disposal processes

Wastewater treatment is being continually improved and made more environmentally friendly, by cutting the consumption of chemicals and energy, for example.⁷¹ As with waste incineration, there is little understanding of how new technologies could be harnessed to remove nanoparticles.

3.4 Conclusion

Firstly, the Committee concludes that, when products are discarded, we still have only a limited understanding of the fate of the various nanomaterials that they may contain. Similarly, it is not known how much of this material is present in waste, nor how much may be released into the environment. This is the case in all three waste treatment methods considered here: recycling, waste incineration, and wastewater treatment. It applies not only to the current situation but also to the impact of any future changes in waste treatment technologies and in the composition of waste streams (resulting from the separate collection of additional types of waste). An additional issue is that it is impossible to draw a clear distinction between the use phase and the disposal phase. There are two main reasons why the fate of nanomaterials in waste is so poorly understood. Firstly, this issue is not currently a priority and secondly there is a lack of suitable analytical methods. Another consideration is that there may be nanomaterialcontaining products on the market which are not identified as such. As a result, we cannot be sure which waste streams will ultimately contain these nanomaterials.

The creation of nanowaste lags behind the production and professional use of nanomaterials. To a lesser extent, the same is true with regard to the ultimate

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

products (and consumer products). This trend appears to be mirrored by people's interest in, and knowledge of, the risks associated with the various life stages of nanomaterial-based products, with the waste stage bringing up the rear. The Committee has the impression that the government and the waste treatment industry still do not fully appreciate that we are on the verge of a growth in the quantity and variety of nanomaterials in waste.

There is only a limited range of options for measuring the levels of nanomaterials in emissions from waste incineration plants and treated waste water. To date, it has not been possible to make reliable routine measurements in air and water. As a result, we do not know whether waste incineration and wastewater treatment are emitting modified or unmodified nanoparticles into the environment.

The Committee concludes that it is not clear whether waste management practices are sufficiently well attuned to the presence of nanomaterials, or to the anticipated short term and long term changes in the quantity and nature of those materials. Various trends in the scientific literature indicate that this situation needs to be remedied. Based on a limited body of evidence, it is quite plausible that nanoparticles are released in the process of waste incineration. In the case of wastewater treatment, there is indirect evidence that nanoparticles are being discharged into surface water. Furthermore, in its present form, wastewater treatment is potentially at risk from waste water containing nanoparticles with antimicrobial activity.

Accordingly, the Committee concludes that there are indications that current waste treatment practices are not sufficient to prevent nanomaterials from entering the environment, and that the wastewater treatment process may be at risk. However, the development and introduction of new waste treatment processes provides opportunities for a greater focus on to the fate of nanomaterials in waste.

Origin and treatment of nanomaterial-containing waste

Chapter

4

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

In this chapter, the Committee addresses the implications of its findings for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products and, more generally, developments in the field of nanomaterials, to avoid adverse health effects as far as possible.

4.1 Precautions

Our understanding of exposure to various nanomaterials and of these materials' potential harmfulness to human health is patchy at best. This underscores the need to act in accordance with the precautionary principle. An earlier Health Council advisory report defined precautionary action as dealing with uncertainties carefully and in a way that is tailored to the issue at hand.⁷² This means that, when assessing the problem and formulating policy decisions, the pros and cons of possible courses of action, the associated uncertainty, and the implications for stakeholders are identified and weighed against one another. In the nanomaterials issue, it is important to examine the entire life cycle of nanomaterial-based products in great detail, to protect the environment, the general public, and employees. It is a good idea to give greater consideration to the issue of waste generation, as little is known about the quantity of nanomaterials released into the environment at this point. In line with the precautionary principle, the Dutch government has already set policies in motion that allow for the presence of nanomaterials in waste, before there is any significant increase in the concentrations of nanomaterials in various waste

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

streams. Such policies are fully in keeping with the principle of sustainable waste management, as set out in the 2009-2021 National Waste Management Plan.⁴⁹ The following sections offer points of reference for such policies.

4.2 Twin-track approach

The twin-track approach on which mainstream waste management is based is equally applicable to the management of nanomaterial-containing waste. This approach involves waste prevention and the safe handling of waste.

Nanomaterials must be prevented from entering waste streams, as a matter of priority. As with non-nanomaterials, the motto here is "the earlier in the material chain you intervene (from production to disposal) the greater the beneficial effect." This applies to all nanomaterials, whether in bound and unbound form. Smart (or smarter) design and smarter production methods can play an important part in this. The government has been fostering this approach for quite some time. At international level, this gained extra prominence when the concept of Cradle to Cradle (C2C) was launched. This embodies the ideals of recycling and of eliminating residual waste.73 Products should be designed such that, once they have been used, all of their component materials are either available for high quality reuse (by being incorporated into a new product) or are returned to a biological cycle (the natural decomposition of wood, for example). With nanomaterials and nanomaterial-based products, smart design and manufacturing can help to ensure that, at the waste stage, little or no such material is released into the environment. The available options will have to be reviewed on a case by case basis.

In addition to taking preventive measures, it is advisable to invest in the safe (or safer) removal of any nanowaste that may slip through this net. This could involve a careful examination of the processes of recycling, waste incineration, and wastewater treatment, and modifying them where possible. Harnessing new technologies for the treatment of solid waste and waste water could be fruitful in this regard. One example is the aforementioned process of gasification, which could be used to treat specific types of solid waste.* Further research is needed to clarify the impact of gasification and other new technologies on the fate of any nanomaterials present in waste.

The Energy research Centre of the Netherlands, at Petten, and the HVC energy and waste utility, at Alkmaar, are working on a joint pilot project for the gasification of scrap wood, a residual waste stream that can contain nanomaterials (paints, coatings).

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

4.3 Awareness and communication

There is great uncertainty concerning the health risks associated with nanowaste, as these are still very difficult to assess. In terms of the evaluation and decision-making process, this involves continuing the existing public dialogue.^{32,33} Two groups deserve special attention in this regard, one consists of the government and industry, the other is the general public.

4.3.1 Government and industry

From a precautionary standpoint, it makes sense to alert the numerous stakeholders (including the government, manufacturers, importers and the waste treatment sector) to the anticipated growth in nanowaste (both in terms of quantity and diversity). They should also be made aware that a proactive policy is needed, as we lack sufficient knowledge to accurately determine the risks posed to public health by nanowaste. In the Committee's view, government and industry must act in unison to resolve this issue. This involves the waste treatment operators, as well as actors with responsibility for other parts of the material chain, such as the manufacturers and users of nanomaterials.

The waste treatment operators can also get actively involved by using their knowledge and experience to modify waste treatment processes where necessary. They can also consider how new waste treatment technologies might effectively contribute to the safe handling of nanomaterial-containing waste.

The manufacturers, importers and users of nanomaterials must play an active part in preventing the generation of nanowaste. After all, under existing legislation in the field of environmental and consumer protection, they do have a duty of care. Indeed, the Environmental Management Act stipulates a general duty of care for the environment. Furthermore, the EU "REACH" (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals) regulation stipulates a duty of care when handling substances. The latter requirement means that companies have a responsibility to take action when they suspect that a substance that they produce, market or use can cause harm to individuals or to the environment. This involves any measures that might reasonably be expected to be taken to eliminate such hazards, or to reduce them as much as possible. Industry could meet this requirement (which also covers the waste treatment sector) by arranging for the designers of nanomaterials and nanomaterial-based products to discuss technical details and practical know-how with experts from the waste sector.

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

4.3.2 General public

The Committee also feels it advisable to reach a well considered decision on how best to inform and involve members of the general public. This is important in terms of boosting support for policy innovation (e.g. the separate collection of more types of waste).

In some cases it may also be useful to make clear to the public that they can avoid inadvertent exposure to nanomaterials by taking safety precautions when handling products that contain such materials, right up to the moment that they are discarded. The Committee feels that the need for such precautions should be considered on a case by case basis. This only makes sense where there is a specific problem. In such cases, instructions can be issued on what to do, or what not to do. Messages about nanomaterial-based products and their waste that are couched in broad terms are only appropriate where they are indeed generally valid.

This means that careful consideration should be given to the communication in question well in advance. Such messages must be issued proactively, and they must deal with all aspects of use, rather than focusing on waste alone. Points of reference can be found in the results of social dialogue to date.^{32,33}

The existing Risks of Nanotechnology Knowledge and Information Centre (KIR nano) could play a part in making information on the issue of nanowaste accessible to the general public.

4.4 Points to note for nanowaste policy

The Committee feels that additional policy is needed for dealing with any nanowaste that has been generated. This applies to all three waste treatment methods considered here: recycling, waste incineration, and wastewater treatment.

The policy must allow for, and anticipate, rapid developments in nanotechnology and trends in waste management. These include the following:

• Diversity of nanomaterials. Nanomaterials are a heterogeneous group in terms of both their chemical and physical properties, and with regard to their applications. As a result of this heterogeneity, different types can be expected to occur in different waste streams. The procedural implications are not immediately clear. For example, would a group-based approach to materials or products be useful and workable? A single, broad approach might not suffice.

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

- Trends in the field of nanotechnology. The field of nanotechnology is extremely dynamic. There is a continuous influx of new nanomaterials. Incidentally, some nanomaterials can contribute to sustainable waste treatment, particularly in the production of drinking water.⁴⁶ The Committee's analysis focuses mainly on what are known as first and second generation nanomaterials. This is largely motivated by the fact that the limited amount of waste-issue-related information available concerns these generations. In the Committee's view, however, the policy to be formulated should look further ahead, taking into account future generations of nanomaterials.
- Trends in the field of waste management. Waste management, too, is in a state of flux. In addition to organisational changes (privatisation), substantive changes are taking place, to make processes more sustainable, for example. In this connection, a related goal might be to cut energy consumption.^{49-51,71} One aspect of this involves the development of new technologies, such as the above-mentioned gasification of waste. Another consideration is that waste streams are not fixed. They can vary from time to time, as a result of policy changes. For instance, the separate collection of plastics creates a separate waste stream. This reduces the amount of residual waste left behind, and changes its composition. Accordingly, future-proof waste management for nanomaterials has two important features. It is proactive in relation to technological developments in waste treatment and discounts the interdependence of waste streams.

4.5 Specific approach

4.5.1 Monitoring

When creating an adequate waste policy that anticipates trends in nanotechnology and waste treatment, it is important to identify current nanomaterial-containing waste flows, in addition to those that we will have to face in the near and distant future. Scenario analysis could be a useful tool for identifying and quantifying nanomaterials in waste, and for pinpointing the waste streams involved.

The requisite key elements are a workable, internationally observed definition of nanomaterials, and measurement methods capable of conveying a more accurate impression of the quantities of nanomaterials released during waste treatment. In this context, it makes sense to push for a link between the emergence of new nanomaterial-based products and the availability of new

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

analytical methods capable of determining the concentrations of the nanomaterials in question in the environment.

4.5.2 Sticking points

The Structural Assessment of Environmental Law, Nanotechnology Component (STEM nano) was recently carried out. This allowed the government to explore the available options for implementing policy on nanotechnology and nanomaterials.⁷⁴ STEM nano identified a wide range of potential policy tools, such as the establishment of a notification requirement for the manufacture and use of nanomaterials. Other such tools are admission requirements for nanomaterials, separate collection and recycling of discarded nanomaterial-based products, treating nanomaterial-based waste as potentially hazardous, and the above-mentioned duty of care.

STEM nano notes that EU and Dutch legislation involves sticking points that hinder the application of such policy tools to nanomaterials. This legislation appears to be insufficiently focused on the special properties of nanomaterials. The government wants action to be taken at EU level to accelerate the procedural steps needed to eliminate these and other sticking points in European legislation.⁷⁵ Waste management definitely merits inclusion in the planned risk assessment system for nanomaterials.

The Committee recommends that consideration be given to encouraging manufacturers to adopt smart design and production techniques. In this way, as much waste as possible would be recycled for high quality reuse, thereby minimising the amount of residual waste generated. It also recommends that industry be encouraged to take this one step further, by harnessing the insight that it has gained into the properties and behaviour of specific nanomaterials for the development of subsequent generations of nanomaterials. This would involve the deliberate channelling of developments in directions that would pose the minimum possible risk to health.

4.5.3 Research

The Committee proposes that research in the following two areas be actively encouraged:

• Research into new waste treatment technologies and their potential use in curbing the quantities of nanomaterials released into the environment via waste.

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

• The development of reliable, specific methods for measuring individual types of nanomaterial (or groups of nanomaterials) in given media (air and aqueous liquids). Such methods are needed to test for the presence of nanomaterials in waste, and for assessing how well waste incineration plants and sewage treatment plants prevent the release of nanomaterials into the environment. Measurement methods are also a prerequisite for formulating possible standards (emission requirements) for facilities such as waste incineration plants and sewage treatment plants. Methods for measuring specific nanomaterials (or groups of nanomaterials) are also needed to make exposure estimates, and to identify the health risks associated with exposure to nanomaterials in general, and those found in waste in particular.

4.6 Conclusion

The field of nanotechnologies and nanomaterials is evolving rapidly, but it will take time for the various developments to crystallise out. Some of these issues challenge our imagination, as does the associated disposal phase. Waste management should be modified accordingly. This requires policy that is both proactive and able to reflect the dynamic nature of these developments. This view is in keeping with standard waste policy. If waste management is to be made future-proof then it must provide for coherence between the two pillars of waste management (the prevention of nanowaste and the safe handling of any nanowaste that is generated) and the trends in waste treatment and in nanomaterials. It must also allow for a customised approach to different nanomaterials (and groups of nanomaterials).

Repercussions for the safe handling of nanomaterial-based products

Literature

1	BEUC The European Consumers' Organisation and ANEC The European consumer voice in	
	standardisation. How much nano do we buy? ANEC/BEUC updated Inventory on products claiming	
	to contain nanomaterials. Brussels: BEUC The European Consumers' Organisation and ANEC The	
	European consumer voice in standardisation; 2010. Internet: http://www.beuc.org/Content/	
	Default.asp?	
2	Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars. Inventory of nanotechnology-based consumer	
	products currently on the market. Washington DC: Woodrow Wilson International Center for	
	Scholars; 2011. Internet: http://www.nanotechproject.org/inventories/consumer/.	
3	Dekkers S, Prud'homme De Lodder LCH, de Winter R, Sips AJAM, De Jong WH. Inventory of	
	consumer products containing nanomaterials. Bilthoven: RIVM; 2007: RIVM/SIR Advisory report	
	11124.	
4	Wijnhoven SWP, Dekkers S, Kooi M, Jongeneel WP, De Jong WH. Nanomaterials in consumer	
	products. Update of products on the European market in 2010. Bilthoven: National Institute for	
	Public Health and the Environment; 2010: RIVM Report 340370003/2010.	
5	Health Council of the Netherlands. Health significance of nanotechnologies. The Hague: Health	
	Council of the Netherlands, 2006; publication no. 2006/06E.	
6	Borm PJ, Schins RP, Albrecht C. Inhaled particles and lung cancer, part B: paradigms and risk	
	assessment. Int J Cancer 2004; 110(1): 3-14.	
7	Ferin J, Oberdörster G, Penney DP. Pulmonary retention of ultrafine and fine particles in rats. Am J	
	Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 6(5): 535-542.	
8	Pope CA, III, Dockery DW. Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: lines that connect. J Air	
	Waste Manag Assoc 2006; 56(6): 709-742.	

Literature

- 9 WHO Air quality guidelines, global update 2005. Particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Internet. http://www.euro.who.int.
- 10 Hoek G, Boogaard H, Knol A, de HJ, Slottje P, Ayres JG e.a. Concentration response functions for ultrafine particles and all-cause mortality and hospital admissions: results of a European expert panel elicitation. Environ Sci Technol 2010; 44(1): 476-482.
- Knol AB, de Hartog JJ, Boogaard H, Slottje P, van der Sluijs JP, Lebret E e.a. Expert elicitation on ultrafine particles: likelihood of health effects and causal pathways. Part Fibre Toxicol 2009; 6: 19-34.
- Health Council of the Netherlands: Dutch Expert Committee on Occupational Standards (DECOS).
 p-Aramid fibres. Rijswijk: Health Council of the Netherlands; 1997: publication no. 1997/07WGD.
- Health Council of the Netherlands. Asbestos: Risks of environmental and occupational exposure. The
 Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2010; publication no. 2010/10E.
- 14 Health Council of the Netherlands. Committee on the Evaluation of the carcinogenicity of chemical substances. Man made mineral fibers : assessment of carcinogenicity. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 1995; publication no 1995/18.
- Health Council of the Netherlands: Dutch Expert Committee on Occupational Standards (DECOS).
 Man Made Mineral Fibers (MMMF). The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands; 1995:
 publication no 1995/02WGD.
- 16 Committee for Review of the Federal Strategy to Address Environmental, Health, and Safety Research Needs for Engineered Nanoscale Materials, Committee on Toxicology, National Research Council. Review of Federal Strategy for Nanotechnology-Related Environmental, Health, and Safety Research. Washington D.C.: National Academy of Sciences; 2008. Internet: www.nap.edu.
- French Agency for Environmental and Occupational Health Safety (AFSSET). Nanomaterials.
 Effects on the Environment and Human Health. Maison-Alfort Cedex: French Agency for
 Environmental and Occupational Health Safety (AFSSET); 2006. Internet: www.afsset.fr.
- 18 National Nanotechnology Initiative, National Science and Technology Council, Committee on Technology, Subcommitee on Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology. Strategy for nanotechnology-related environmental, health, and safety research. Arlington, Virginia: National Nanotechnology Coordination Office; 2008. Internet: www.nano.gov.
- OECD Environment Directorate. OECD Programme on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials 2009-2012: operational plans of the projects. Series on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials, No. 22. Parijs: OECD; 2010. Internet: www.oecd.org/ehs/.
- 20 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). Nanomaterials: Hazards and risks to health and the environment. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA); 2008.
- 21 Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR), Directorate-General for Health and Consumers, European Commission. Opinion on the appropriateness of the risk assessment methodology in accordance with the technical guidance document for new and

Literature

existing substances for assessing the risks of nanomaterials. Brussels: European Commission; 2007. Internet: http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/scenihr_o_004c.pdf.

- 22 Som C, Berges M, Chaudhry Q, Dusinska M, Fernandes TF, Olsen SI e.a. The importance of life cycle concepts for the development of safe nanoproducts. Toxicology 2010; 269(2-3): 160-169.
- van Zijverden M, Sips AJAM, (red). Nanotechnologie in perspectief. Risico's voor mens en milieu.
 Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2008: rapport 601785002/2008.
- 24 Pacurari M, Castranova V, Vallyathan V. Single- and multi-wall carbon nanotubes versus asbestos: are the carbon nanotubes a new health risk to humans? J Toxicol Environ Health A 2010; 73(5): 378-395.
- Savolainen K, Alenius H, Norppa H, Pylkkanen L, Tuomi T, Kasper G. Risk assessment of engineered nanomaterials and nanotechnologies: a review. Toxicology 2010; 269(2-3): 92-104.
- Kahru A, Dubourguier HC. From ecotoxicology to nanoecotoxicology. Toxicology 2010; 269(2-3): 105-119.
- 27 Tweede Kamer. Brief van de staatssecretaris van Economische Zaken, de minister van Onderwijs, Cultuur en Wetenschap, de staatssecretaris van Volkshuisvesting, Ruimtelijke Ordening en Milieubeheer, de ministers van Volksgezondheid, Welzijn en Sport, van Binnenlandse Zaken en Koninkrijksrelaties en van Justitie, de staatssecretaris van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid en de minister van Landbouw, Natuur en Voedselkwaliteit aan de Voorzitter van de Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal van 16 november 2006: Kabinetsvisie Nanotechnologieën. Van Klein Naar Groots. Tweede Kamer, vergaderjaar 2006-2007, 29338 nr. 54 (herdruk). Den Haag: Sdu Uitgevers.
- Minister van Economische Zaken. Voortgangsrapportage 2010. Rijksbrede Actieplan
 Nanotechnologie. Den Haag: Ministerie van Economische Zaken; 2010.
- 29 Minister van Economische Zaken. Actieplan Nanotechnologie. Den Haag: Ministerie van Economische Zaken; 2008.
- 30 Tweede Kamer. Brief van de minister van Economische Zaken aan de Voorzitter van de Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal van 4 juli 2008 over het Actieplan Nanotechnologie. Tweede Kamer, vergaderjaar 2007-2008, 29338 nr. 75. Den Haag: Sdu Uitgevers.
- 31 Tweede Kamer. Brief van de minister van Economische Zaken aan de Voorzitter van de Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal van 6 april 2010 over de eerste voortgangsrapportage inzake het Actieplan Nanotechnologie. Tweede Kamer, vergaderjaar 2009-2010, 29338 nr. 93. Den Haag: Sdu Uitgevers.
- Tweede Kamer. Brief van de minister van Economische Zaken, Landbouw en Innovatie aan de Voorzitter van de Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal van 8 februari 2011 over het eindrapport van de Commissie Maatschappelijke Dialoog Nanotechnologie 'Verantwoord verder met nanotechnologie'. Tweede Kamer, vergaderjaar 2010-2011, 29338 nr. 101. Den Haag: Sdu Uitgevers.
- Commissie Maatschappelijke Dialoog Nanotechnologie. Verantwoord verder met nanotechnologie.
 Bevindingen maart 2009 januari 2011. Amsterdam: Commissie Maatschappelijke Dialoog
 Nanotechnologie; 2011. Internet: http://www.nanopodium.nl/CieMDN/.

Literature

- Aitken RJ, Hankin SM, Ross B, Tran CL, Stone V, Fernandes TF e.a. EMERGNANO: A review of completed and near completed environment, health and safety research on nanomaterials and nanotechnology. Defra Project CB0409. Edinburgh, UK: Institute of Occupational Medicine; 2009: Report TM/09/01.
- 35 von Gleich A. Vorsorgeprinzip. In: Bröchler S, Simonis G, Sundermann K, editors. Handbuch Technikfolgenabschätzung. Berlin: Editions Sigma; 1999: 287-293.
- Pronk MEJ, Wijnhoven SWP, Bleeker EAJ, Heugens EHW, Peijnenburg WJGM, Luttik R e.a.
 Nanomaterials under REACH. Nanosilver as a case study. Bilthoven: RIVM; 2009: report 601780003/2009. Internet: www.rivm.nl.
- 37 Borm P, Houba R, Linneker F. Omgaan met nanodeeltjes op de werkvloer. Survey naar goede praktijken in omgaan met nanomaterialen in de Nederlandse industrie en kennisinstellingen. Heerlen: Hogeschool Zuyd; 2008.
- Sociaal-Economische Raad (SER), Commissie Arbeidsomstandigheden. Veilig omgaan met nanodeeltjes op de werkvloer. Den Haag: Sociaal-Economische Raad (SER); 2009:
 Publicatienummer 1, 20 maart 2009. Internet: www.ser.nl.
- 39 Bystrzejewska-Piotrowska G, Golimowski J, Urban PL. Nanoparticles: their potential toxicity, waste and environmental management. Waste Manag 2009; 29(9): 2587-2595.
- 40 Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR), Directorate-General for Health and Consumers, European Commission. Scientific basis for the definition of the term 'nanomaterial'. Brussels: European Commission; 2010. Internet: http://ec.europa.eu/health/ scientific_committees/emerging/docs/scenihr_o_032.pdf.
- 41 Pangule RC, Brooks SJ, Dinu CZ, Bale SS, Salmon SL, Zhu G e.a. Antistaphylococcal nanocomposite films based on enzyme-nanotube conjugates. ACS Nano 2010; 4(7): 3993-4000.
- Voedsel en Waren Autoriteit, Bureau Risicobeoordeling. Nanodeeltjes in consumentenproducten.Den Haag: Voedsel en Waren Autoriteit; 2008. Internet: www.vwa.nl.
- 43 Voedsel en Waren Autoriteit, Regionale dienst Noord. Nanodeeltjes in consumentenproducten. Den Haag: Voedsel en Waren Autoriteit; 2010: factsheet ND09231G. Internet: www.vwa.nl.
- 44 Voedsel en Waren Autoriteit, Bureau Risicobeoordeling. Nanodeeltjes in voedsel. Den Haag: Voedsel en Waren Autoriteit; 2008. Internet: www.vwa.nl.
- 45 Dekkers S, Krystek P, Peters RJ, Lankveld DX, Bokkers BG, van Hoeven-Arentzen PH e.a. Presence and risks of nanosilica in food products. Nanotoxicology 2010; Early Online: 1-13.
- 46 Struijs J, van de Meent D, Peijnenburg WJGM, Heugens E, de Jong W, Hagens W e.a. Nanodeeltjes in water. Bilthoven: RIVM; 2007: rapport 607030001/2007.
- 47 Roco MC. New frontiers for nanotechnology. Presentatie STW-conferentie, Rotterdam, 4 oktober
 2007. Stichting voor de Technische Wetenschappen. 2007. Internet: www.stw-inschrijving.nl/
 DownloadPagina.aspx.
- 48 Roco MC. Nanoscale-based emerging science and engineering. NanoUtah, October 15, 2009. 2009.
 Internet: http://www.nanoinstitute.utah.edu/portal/site/nanoinstitute/menuitem.b8a5b35f12d1

Literature

cba65b2c5b69c1e916b9/?vgnextoid=4e15b2bda6ac4210VgnVCM1000001c9e619bRCRD &vgnextchannel=22dd4c3c18c01210VgnVCM1000001c9e619bRCRD.

- 49 Minister van Volkshuisvesting, Ruimtelijke Ordening en Milieubeheer. Landelijk afvalbeheerplan
 2009-2021. Naar een materiaalketenbeleid. Den Haag: Ministerie van Volkshuisvesting, Ruimtelijke
 Ordening en Milieubeheer; 2009.
- 50 Besluit van 2 maart 2004, houdende implementatie van richtlijn nr. 2000/76/EG van het Europees Parlement en de Raad van de Europese Unie van 4 decmber 2000 betreffende de verbranding van afval (PbEG L 332) (Besluit verbranden afvalstoffen). Staatsblad 2004; nr. 97.
- 51 European Commission. Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control, Reference Document on the Best Available Techniques for Waste Incineration. Brussels: European Commission; 2006.
- 52 Buonanno G, Ficco G, Stabile L. Size distribution and number concentration of particles at the stack of a municipal waste incinerator. Waste Manag 2009; 29(2): 749-755.
- 53 Maguhn J, Karg E, Kettrup A, Zimmermann R. On-line analysis of the size distribution of fine and ultrafine aerosol particles in flue and stack gas of a municipal waste incineration plant: effects of dynamic process control measures and emission reduction devices. Environ Sci Technol 2003; 37(20): 4761-4770.
- 54 Zeuthen JH, Pedersen AJ, Hansen J, Frandsen FJ, Livbjerg H, Riber C e.a. Combustion aerosols from municipal waste incineration. Effect of fuel feedstock and plant operation. Combust Sci Tech 2007; 179(10): 2171-2198.
- Handy RG, Jackson MJ, Robinson GM, Lafreniere MD. The measurement of ultrafine particles: a pilot study using a portable particle counting technique to measure generated particles during a micromachining process. Journal of Materials Engineering and Performance 2006; 15(2): 172-177.
- 56 Majestic BJ, Erdakos GB, Lewandowski M, Oliver KD, Willis RD, Kleindienst TE e.a. A review of selected engineered nanoparticles in the atmosphere: sources, transformations, and techniques for sampling and analysis. Int J Occup Environ Health 2010; 16(4): 488-507.
- 57 Hagendorfer H, Lorenz C, Kaegi R, Sinnet B, Gehrig R, Goetz NV e.a. Size-fractionated characterization and quantification of nanoparticle release rates from a consumer spray product containing engineered nanoparticles. J Nanopart Res 2010; 12: 2481-2494.
- 58 Hower JC, Graham UM, Dozier A, Tseng MT, Khatri RA. Association of the sites of heavy metals with nanoscale carbon in a Kentucky electrostatic precipitator fly ash. Environ Sci Technol 2008; 42(22): 8471-8477.
- 59 Nowack B, Bucheli TD. Occurrence, behavior and effects of nanoparticles in the environment. Environ Pollut 2007; 150(1): 5-22.
- 60 Kaegi R, Ulrich A, Sinnet B, Vonbank R, Wichser A, Zuleeg S e.a. Synthetic TiO2 nanoparticle emission from exterior facades into the aquatic environment. Environ Pollut 2008; 156(2): 233-239.
- 61 Kim B, Park CS, Murayama M, Hochella MF. Discovery and characterization of silver sulfide nanoparticles in final sewage sludge products. Environ Sci Technol 2010; 44(19): 7509-7514.

Literature

- 62 Limbach LK, Bereiter R, Muller E, Krebs R, Galli R, Stark WJ. Removal of oxide nanoparticles in a model wastewater treatment plant: influence of agglomeration and surfactants on clearing efficiency. Environ Sci Technol 2008; 42(15): 5828-5833.
- 63 Kiser MA, Ryu H, Jang H, Hristovski K, Westerhoff P. Biosorption of nanoparticles to heterotrophic wastewater biomass. Water Res 2010; 44(14): 4105-4114.
- 64 Hinderliter PM, Minard KR, Orr G, Chrisler WB, Thrall BD, Pounds JG e.a. ISDD: A computational model of particle sedimentation, diffusion and target cell dosimetry for in vitro toxicity studies. Part Fibre Toxicol 2010; 7(1): 36.
- 65 Lison D, Thomassen LCJ, Rabolli V, Gonzalez L, Napierska D, Won Seo J e.a. Nominal and effective dosimetry of silica nanoparticles in cytotoxicity assays. Toxicol Sci 2008; 104(1): 155-162.
- 66 Teeguarden JG, Hinderliter PM, Orr G, Thrall BD, Pounds JG. Particokinetics in vitro: dosimetry considerations for in vitro nanoparticle toxicity assessments. Toxicol Sci 2007; 95(2): 300-312.
- 67 Brar SK, Verma M, Tyagi RD, Surampalli RY. Engineered nanoparticles in wastewater and wastewater sludge. Evidence and impacts. Waste Manag 2010; 30(3): 504-520.
- Hassellöv M, Readman JW, Ranville JF, Tiede K. Nanoparticle analysis and characterization methodologies in environmental risk assessment of engineered nanoparticles. Ecotoxicology 2008; 17(5): 344-361.
- 69 Isaacson CW, Kleber M, Field JA. Quantitative analysis of fullerene nanomaterials in environmental systems: a critical review. Environ Sci Technol 2009; 43(17): 6463-6474.
- Tiede K, Boxall AB, Tear SP, Lewis J, David H, Hassellov M. Detection and characterization of engineered nanoparticles in food and the environment. Food Addit Contam Part A 2008; 25(7): 795-821.
- 71 Roeleveld P, Roorda J, Schaafsma M. Op weg naar de RWZI 2030. Utrecht: Stichting Toegepast Onderzoek Waterbeheer (STOWA); 2010: rapportnummer 2010-11.
- 72 Gezondheidsraad. Voorzorg met rede. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad; 2008: publicatienr. 2008/18.
- 73 McDonough W, Braungart M. Cradle to cradle. Remaking the way we make things. New York: North Point Press, a division of Farrar, Strauss and Giroux; 2002.
- Vogelezang-Stoute EM, Popma JR, Aalders MVC, Gaarthuis JM. Structurele Evaluatie
 Milieuwetgeving (STEM). Regulering van onzekere risico's van nanomaterialen. Mogelijkheden en knelpunten in de regelgeving op het gebied van milieu, consumentenbescherming en arbeidsomstandigheden. Centrum voor Milieurecht (Universiteit van Amsterdam), Maastrichts
 Europees instituut voor Transnationaal Rechtswetenschappelijk Onderzoek ((METRO), Universiteit Maastricht), Instituut voor Milieuvraagstukken (Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam) en ARCADIS, Arnhem; 2010: STEM publicatie 2010/5.
- 75 Tweede Kamer. Brief van de staatssecretaris van Infrastructuur en Milieu aan de Voorzitter van de Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal van 25 mei 2011 over de inzet op EU-beleid risico's nanomaterialen. Tweede Kamer, vergaderjaar 2010-2011, 29338 nr. 105. Den Haag: Sdu Uitgevers.

Literature

A The Committee

Annex

A The Committee

Annex

The Health and Environment Surveillance Committee has the task of bringing subjects concerning health and the environment to the attention of the government and Parliament, and of highlighting threats and opportunities. This may be in relation to new issues but may equally concern topics that require attention once again.

Members of the Committee charged with the preparation of the present advisory report:

- Professor W.F. Passchier, *chairman* Emeritus Professor of Risk Analysis, Maastricht University
- Professor M. van den Berg Professor of Toxicology, Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University
- Professor J.W. Erisman
 Professor of Integrated Nitrogen Issues, VU University, Amsterdam, and Unit Manager of Biomass, Coal & Environmental Research, Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands, Petten
- P.J. van den Hazel Physician, Specialist in Environmental Medicine, Public Health Service Central Gelderland, Arnhem

The Committee

- Professor R. Leemans Professor of Environmental Systems Analysis, Wageningen University and Research Centre
- Professor E. Lebret
 Professor of Environmental Health Impact Assessment, Institute for Risk
 Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University
- Dr. A.J.A.M. Sips, *advisor* Toxicologist, Specialist in Pharmacokinetics and Toxicokinetics, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven
- Dr. J.P. van der Sluijs Researcher in Science, Technology and Society, Copernicus Institute for Sustainable Development and Innovation, Utrecht University
- Professor D.R.M. Timmermans
 Professor of Risk Communication and Patient Decision Making, EMGO
 Institute, VU University Medical Centre, Amsterdam
- Dr. P.W. van Vliet, *scientific secretary* Health Council of the Netherlands, The Hague

When drawing up this advisory report, the Committee consulted various individuals with specific expertise in this area.

The following persons were consulted:

- Professor P.J.A. Borm
 Professor of Toxicology, Heinrich Heine University, Düsseldorf, Germany;
 CEO Magnamedics Diagnostics bv, Geleen
- Dr. M.K. Cieplik Environmental Chemistry Expert, Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands, Petten
- Dr. P.C. Rem Associate Professor of Raw Materials Processing, Delft University of Technology
- Professor A. Schmidt-Ott Professor of Particles Technology, Delft University of Technology
- Dr. B.G. Temmink Environmental Technology Expert, Wageningen University and Research Centre

The Committee

The Health Council and interests

Members of Health Council Committees are appointed in a personal capacity because of their special expertise in the matters to be addressed. Nonetheless, it is precisely because of this expertise that they may also have interests. This in itself does not necessarily present an obstacle for membership of a Health Council Committee. Transparency regarding possible conflicts of interest is nonetheless important, both for the chairperson and members of a Committee and for the President of the Health Council. On being invited to join a Committee, members are asked to submit a form detailing the functions they hold and any other material and immaterial interests which could be relevant for the Committee's work. It is the responsibility of the President of the Health Council to assess whether the interests indicated constitute grounds for nonappointment. An advisorship will then sometimes make it possible to exploit the expertise of the specialist involved. During the inaugural meeting the declarations issued are discussed, so that all members of the Committee are aware of each other's possible interests.

The Committee